S.Ct. Case No.: S259215

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### BLAKELY McHUGH, et al.

Plaintiffs/Appellants/Petitioners,

VS.

### PROTECTIVE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

Defendant/Respondent.

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Div. One (D072863) (Superior Court of San Diego County, Hon. Judith F. Hayes 37-2014-00019212-CU-IC-CTL)

#### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### WINTERS & ASSOCIATES

Jack B. Winters, Jr., Esq./82998 Georg M. Capielo, Esq./245491 Sarah D. Ball, Esq./292337 1901 First Avenue, Suite 400 San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 234-9000

#### WILLIAMS IAGMIN LLP

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

On January 29, 2020, the Court granted review in this matter to consider the following related questions:

1. Were the provisions of Insurance Code sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 intended by the Legislature to apply, in whole or in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All factual citations in this Opening Brief are to the official citation of the Court of Appeal's Opinion (*McHugh v. Protective Life Insurance* (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 1166); the Appellant's Appendix, abbreviated as: ([volume] AA [page]); and the exhibits admitted in the underlying trial, abbreviated as: (Exh. [number].)

part, to life insurance policies in force as of January 1, 2013, regardless of the original date of issuance of those policies?

2. Did the lower courts in this case properly rely upon private opinions of Department of Insurance staff counsel? (See Ins. Code § 12921.9; Gov. Code § 11340.5; *Heckart v. A-J Self Storage*, *Inc.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 749.)

#### II.

### **INTRODUCTION**

In 2011, the State of California recognized a serious problem with senior and disabled insurance policyholders unintentionally losing important life insurance coverage due to inadvertent failures to pay policy premiums. Often decades of premium investments in those policies were lost when a single payment was missed and those policies were terminated as a result of the mental or physical decline of those elderly or disabled policyholders.

To address those issues, in 2012 the Legislature passed Assembly Bill 1747 ("AB 1747" – 2011-2012 Reg. Sess.), adding sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 to the Insurance Code on January 1, 2013. Importantly, those statutes codified protections requiring at least 30-days' notice of a

pending lapse before an insurer could legally terminate a life insurance policy. They further mandated that all life insurance policies "issued and delivered" in California must adhere to at least a 60-day grace period for premium payments, irrespective of the period originally designated in those policies. And finally, to provide seniors and disabled policyholders with added protection against inadvertent lapses, those statutes also required that every policyholder would be entitled to designate a secondary individual or entity to receive notice of any pending lapse for non-payment.

Those statutes were remedial in nature, meant to address a specific threat or harm, and were intended to apply immediately to all in force policies under Insurance Code section 41. (See Legislative History of AB 1747 at 1 AA 580-694 [detailing how that legislation was needed to provide consumer safeguards for existing policyholders who previously purchased life insurance coverage, especially seniors].) Those sections further embodied well-settled public policies placing the affirmative burden on insurers to provide proper notice of termination in light of those enlarged grace periods and notice requirements. Non-

conforming notices would be deemed "ineffective," leaving existing policies in force. (1 AA 644.)

Notably, that remedial legislation was supported not only by numerous senior and consumer protection groups, but also by the insurance industry and the Department of Insurance ("DOI"). Further, it was signed into law without any indication from the DOI that those statutes would not go into effect immediately and apply to all existing in force policies in California. Indeed, to the extent that the Legislature expressly enacted those statutes to protect senior and disabled "policyholders" from inadvertently losing decades of prior premium investments in those policies, it was reasonable to conclude that legislation would apply to existing in force policies.

However, after the passage of those statutes, some insurers (including Protective Life) began to advance the argument that those statutes (and in particular, their provisions extending grace and notice periods) were not intended to apply to existing in force policies issued before January 1, 2013. Following their passage, the DOI did not take a position on the application of the statutes, either way. Rather in response to off-the-record phone inquiries pressed by certain insurers, a

limited number of DOI staff members purportedly opined that those statutes do not apply to existing policies, even though they also indicated that their responses would not be put in writing and should not be considered a formal rule, bulletin, or guideline issued by the DOI.

Obviously, such an interpretation of those statutes would invite a critical conflict. Indeed, it would mean that nearly all life insurance policies in existence before January 2013 are immune from the requirements of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 and therefore subject to a disparate set of grace period and cancellation rules. It would also mean that as those policies continue in force for decades into the future, when the additional notice and grace period provisions embodied in sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 would become even more important to protecting aging policyholders, those policyholders would be afforded no such protections. And it would mean that only relatively "new" policies, issued after January 1, 2013, enjoy the valuable protections provided by sections 10113.71 and 10113.72, even where the loss of past premiums due to inadvertent lapses of those policies would be relatively limited.

This case embodies that conflict and requires this Court's intervention to preserve the Legislature's remedial intent in enacting sections 10113.71 and 10113.72. To its credit, the trial court below correctly concluded that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied to the in force life insurance policy which Petitioners' decedent, William McHugh ("McHugh"), purchased in 2005, and for which McHugh had paid significant premiums to Protective Life over that eight year period. The Court of Appeal, however, reached the opposite conclusion, finding that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied only to new policies issued after January 1, 2013 and therefore did not prevent the inadvertent lapse of McHugh's policy. It did so by relying on insurance industry informal communications with certain DOI staff members, and "policy form" notices issued by the DOI to the insurance industry, neither of which represented the official position of the DOI on the interpretation of those statutes. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal improperly concluded that those informal communications and policy form notices required "administrative deference." Consequently, the Court of Appeal's published decision now holds that the protections provided by sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 inure only to new policyholders,

contrary to the Legislature's express desire to protect existing elderly and disabled policyholders from inadvertent lapses of their valuable life insurance coverage.

Concurrently, other courts have construed sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 and have reached decisions in conflict with the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. Indeed, as many insurance coverage actions are filed in federal court, at least one federal district court (Bentley v. United of Omaha, Case No. CV 15-7870-DMG (AJWx) (C.D. Cal.)) applied California law to conclude that sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 applied to policies issued before January 1, 2013, irrespective of when they were originally issued. Further, Judge Gee in Bentley specifically considered and refused to follow the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, concluding that it did not reflect how this Court would likely construe those same statutes. In doing so, Judge Gee also disagreed with the Court of Appeal's conclusion that application of those statutes to previously issued policies would necessarily be "retroactive" or would otherwise unconstitutionally impair those policies. Finally, Judge Gee in *Bentley* correctly refused to consider any informal communications or other materials from the DOI, including

the very policy form "SERFF Notices" relied upon by the Court of Appeal. That decision in *Bentley* has since been challenged by the insurer-defendant in that case, and is presently before the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.<sup>2</sup>

Given the obvious disagreement in those holdings concerning the applicability of the exact same statutes — and the split of authority rapidly developing in the state and federal courts in the wake of the Court of Appeal's decision — Petitioners call upon this Court now to reach the following two conclusions and to reverse the Court of Appeal's decision. Specifically, Petitioners first explain why (A) this Court should find that the provisions of Insurance Code sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 apply to all life insurance policies in force on their effective date, January 1, 2013, regardless of the date those policies were originally issued. Such a determination by this Court is the only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Judge Gee's analysis in *Bentley* concerning the construction and application of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72, the relevance of DOI informal communications and policy form notices, and the lack of any retroactive application of those statutes, are all contrary to the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. However, *Bentley* also separately relied upon a "renewal principle" argument which was never addressed by the Court of Appeal and is not germane to Petitioners' arguments before this Court. (See *Bentley v. United of Omaha Life Ins. Co.* (C.D. Cal. 2019) 371 F.Supp.3d 723, 735-737.)

reasonable conclusion consistent with the plain language of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72, the harm the Legislature intended to address and remedy through their enactment, and the Legislature's plenary power to regulate insurance practices in this state under Insurance Code section 41. Petitioners next detail why (B) this Court should similarly clarify that the lower courts may not rely upon unauthorized positions and communications by DOI staff regarding the construction of those statutes. Again, that holding by this Court is also the only reasonable conclusion consistent with prior statutory and decisional law specifying the well-established requirements for agencies like the DOI to take official, binding positions on statutory law within their purview.

The Court's decision on those two issues will bring welcome relief to elderly and disabled policyholders who are particularly susceptible to the current uncertainty conflicting decisions impose on their important life insurance coverage. Indeed, for many of those policyholders, life insurance benefits are the only financial legacy they will leave to their families. This is precisely why the Legislature enacted sections 10113.71 and 10113.72: to ensure that decades of premium payments and commensurate life insurance benefits are not inadvertently

forfeited by that particularly vulnerable class of policyholders, while requiring insurers only to provide reasonable grace periods, and adequate notice, before those policies can lawfully be terminated for nonpayment. Accordingly, Petitioners respectfully request the Court to reverse the Court of Appeal's erroneous construction of those statutes, and to direct the Court of Appeal to enter a new disposition, confirming the application of those statutes to McHugh's Protective Life insurance policy in question.

#### III.

### RELEVANT FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

### A. <u>Background</u>.

As previewed above, the underlying case involved the controverted loss of \$1,000,000 of life insurance benefits to Petitioner, Blakely McHugh ("Blakely"), the surviving daughter of McHugh and the sole beneficiary designated under the term life insurance policy McHugh held with Protective Life at the time of his death. (Exh. 25; 1 AA 106-131.) Petitioner, Trysta M. Henselmeier, was named as a nominal plaintiff as she is the representative of McHugh's estate, but presented

no separate claim for damages on the estate's behalf. (1 AA 79; 3 AA 1369.)

### B. Relevant Provisions Contained in McHugh's Life Insurance Policy with Protective Life.

In March of 2005, McHugh was issued a \$1,000,000 term life insurance policy by Chase Insurance Company. (Exh. 25; 1 AA 106-131.)<sup>3</sup> That policy was delivered on or about March 8, 2005, along with a contemporaneous acknowledgment that the policy was "in force." (*Ibid.*) That policy further indicated that coverage ran from January 9, 2005, with an annual premium having been previously paid by McHugh at about that same time. (*Ibid.*)

The relevant provisions of that policy were that it was a 10-year term life policy, ending in 2015, after which it could be continued with a higher premium payment. (*Ibid.*) While premium payments were due every year on the 9th of January, payment could be made under the terms of that policy within a 31-day "grace period" without any termination of coverage. (1 AA 117.) Consequently, payment was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Chase was later acquired by Protective Life, which assumed all of Chase's obligations under the policy in question.

considered timely as long as it was received within 31 days from the annual due date of January 9 (or by February 9), and if it was not received during that grace period, the policy lapsed and coverage ceased. (1 AA 117 ["If the premium remains unpaid at the end of the grace period, coverage will cease"].) On the other hand, under the terms of that same policy, if the insured died during the grace period, coverage continued, with any unpaid premiums later deducted from the policy proceeds. (*Ibid.*)

### C. The Mandatory Change in the Policy's Grace Period Imposed by the Insurance Code.

By January of 2007, McHugh's policy with Protective Life passed the two-year maturity period in which a claim for benefits could have been contested for any reason. (1 AA 105.) McHugh paid all premiums due yearly in the amount of \$310 through January of 2012, making his policy "in force" until 31 days after January 9, 2013 (including the policy's grace period).

In the interim, as explained above, in 2012 the Legislature enacted Insurance Code sections 10113.71 and 10113.72. Those changes to the Insurance Code, effective January 1, 2013, provided

McHugh with an extension of the policy's grace period, from 31 days to 60 days, during which he could pay his premium without the policy lapsing or being subject to any requirement of reinstatement. (Ins. Code §§ 10113.71, subd. (a).)<sup>4</sup> Those changes also provided McHugh with the right to receive a 30-day written notice sent "after" a premium was due and was unpaid and "prior to the effective date of termination if termination is for nonpayment of premium." (§§ 10113.71, subd. (b)(3) and 10113.72, subd. (c).) Further, those new provisions also gave McHugh the annual right to designate another person to also receive all notices concerning payment of policy premiums, pending lapse, and termination, so as to lessen the risk of an involuntary lapse. (§ 10113.72, subd. (b).)

### D. Protective Life's Premature and Ineffective Termination of McHugh's Policy.

In December 20, 2012, Protective Life sent McHugh a notice reminding him that his premium would be due on January 9, 2013. (Exh. 117; 3 AA 1628.) At the time Protective Life sent that notice,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> All further statutory references are to the Insurance Code unless otherwise indicated.

there was no premium that was yet due or which remained unpaid.

That notice further indicated that the policy would lapse on February 9,

2013 if a premium was not received. (*Ibid.*)

Thereafter, on January 9, 2013, Protective Life mailed an Annual Report to McHugh, advising him of his policy's status. (Exh. 15.) However, that January 9, 2013 Annual Statement did *not* advise McHugh of the new 60-day grace period applicable to his policy, nor did it inform him of the newly enacted right to 30-days' notice before termination of his policy, or his related right to designate someone else to receive premium notices. (*Ibid.*)

On January 28, 2013, Protective Life mailed to McHugh a "Second Notice of Payment Due," which indicated that no premium payment was yet received and which incorrectly (in light of the newly enacted Insurance Code provisions extending that grace period to 60-days) advised McHugh that if payment was not received by February 9, 2013, the policy would lapse. (Exh. 118; 3 AA 1690.) Based upon Protective Life's assertion in that notice that coverage would lapse on February 9, 2013, that notice gave McHugh only 10 days' written notice before termination of the policy for nonpayment, which also violated the

mandatory 30-day pre-termination notice required by those same newly enacted provisions of the Insurance Code. (§ 10113.71, subd. (b).) Additionally, that notice did not advise McHugh of any other upcoming dates, including that the actual last day to timely make a premium payment was 60-days from January 9, 2013, or March 10, 2013. (Exh. 118.)

On February 9, 2013, Protective Life lapsed and terminated coverage under the policy for nonpayment. Thereafter, on February 18, 2013 (again, well before the end of the 60-day grace period then in effect), Protective Life sent McHugh a further notice advising him that the policy had lapsed and that his coverage had ceased. (Exh. 119; 3 AA 1692.) At about the same time that February 18, 2013 notice was sent by Protective Life, McHugh suffered a serious fall which, from that point until his death, left him disabled, caused him continuing physical pain and discomfort, and required surgery on April 1, 2013. (7 RT 1382, 1398-1399.)

### E. McHugh's Death and Protective Life's Denial of Petitioners' Claims for the Policy Benefits.

McHugh died on June 13, 2013. Following McHugh's death, Petitioner Henselmeier contacted Protective Life to inquire about the status of the policy and to inquire whether a claim could be made. (7 AA 1415-1418.) She was advised by Protective Life that the policy had lapsed, and that no benefits were available. (*Ibid.*) Ultimately, Petitioners filed suit on June 13, 2014, within one year of McHugh's death. (1 AA 24.)

#### F. Proceedings in the Trial Court.

Prior to trial, the parties brought cross-motions for summary judgment regarding the application of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 to McHugh's policy. (See, e.g., 1 AA 436-465.) In ruling on those motions, the trial court concluded that both of those statutes applied, and that such an application was prospective only and not "retroactive." (2 AA 1167-1168.) The trial court ultimately concluded that the legislative intent of those statutes was to protect senior policyholders, and that to decline to apply those statutes to existing policies would thwart the obvious remedial purpose of those statutes. (*Ibid.*) The trial

court also rejected consideration or use of any unofficial materials or informal communications by DOI staff members, sustaining objections to those materials. (*Ibid.*)

Consistent with those rulings on summary judgment, at the outset of trial Petitioners urged the trial court to decide purely legal issues surrounding Protective Life's noncompliance with both the terms of the insurance contract and relevant provisions of the Insurance Code. (3 AA 1400-1408, 1489-1497.) Petitioners also alternatively asked the lower court that if those issues were to be presented to the jury, it should pre-instruct the jury that Protective Life must "strictly comply" with the mandatory requirements of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 before it could terminate McHugh's policy and effectuate a forfeiture of policy benefits. (3 AA 1444-1462.) Finally, Petitioners revived those same arguments in a Motion for Directed Verdict, again asserting that the application of sections 10113.71 and 10113.72 was an issue of law for the trial court to decide, and that no evidence demonstrated that Protective Life strictly complied with those sections when it applied the wrong grace period and prematurely lapsed and terminated McHugh's policy. (3 AA 1469-1479.)

Ultimately, the jury found on Petitioners' breach of contract claim that: (1) Protective Life and McHugh entered into a contract for insurance; (2) McHugh failed to do what that policy required him to do but was excused from having to do "all, or substantially all, of the significant things the contract required him to do"; (3) all conditions that were required for Protective Life's performance occurred and were not excused; and (4) Protective Life did something that the contract prohibited it from doing. (4 AA 2173-2174.) However, the jury inconsistently then found that Petitioners were not harmed by Protective Life's "failure." (*Ibid.*)

After entry of Judgment in Protective Life's favor, Petitioners in Motion for renewed their same arguments a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict ("JNOV") and in a Motion for New Trial. (3 AA 1601-1610, 1631-1886.) Protective Life then opposed those motions (4 AA 1910-2097) and the Petitioners replied. (4 AA 2101-Ultimately, the lower court denied those motions without 2159.) elaboration or explanation in its final order. (4 AA 2164.) Petitioners' timely appeal from both the Judgment and the denial of their JNOV motion then followed. (4 AA 2179.)

### G. The Court of Appeal's Opinion.

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