Case No. S259215

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BLAKELY MCHUGH AND TRYSTA M. HENSELMEIER Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Petitioners,

vs.

PROTECTIVE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOURTH DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, CASE NO. D072863

(ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO THE HONORABLE JUDITH F. HAYES CASE NO. 37-2014-00019212-CU-IC-CTL)

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GRIGNON LAW FIRM LLP

Margaret M. Grignon (SBN 76621) 6621 E Pacific Coast Hwy. Ste. 200 Long Beach, California 90803 Telephone: (562) 285-3171 mgrignon@grignonlawfirm.com

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

When legislators regulate various kinds of economic activity, they often decide that the rules governing that activity ought to be changed on a going-forward basis. But these same legislators often understand that applying new rules to already-existing contractual relationships would cause unfairness and disruption—because, among other things, the parties to those contracts premised their agreements on the old rules. Legislators in these circumstances often have struck a balance, limiting the new rules' operation to matters that arise in the future, and allowing existing contracts to remain governed by the law that was on the books when the parties made their agreement.

That is the balance the Legislature struck with Assembly Bill 1747. This statute called for new life-insurance policies issued and delivered in California to contain provisions affording various new reforms in the future. But Assembly Bill 1747 did not redline these new requirements into policies, like McHugh's, whose terms were agreed upon before the statute went into effect.

As explained in the pages that follow, numerous considerations show that this route was the one the Legislature chose. This Court has long held that changes to insurance statutes do not apply to preexisting policies unless the Legislature "expressly" says they do. (*Interinsurance Exch., supra*, 58 Cal.2d at p.149.) Far from expressly saying that Assembly Bill 1747's new requirements applied to preexisting policies, the Legislature used language showing that they did not. That is why every Department

28

of Insurance official and Justice on the Court of Appeal who has considered the issue has read this statute as not affecting policies like McHugh's, and that is why this Court should do the same.⁵

A. Under this Court's decision in *Interinsurance Exchange*, changes to the Insurance Code do not apply to existing policies unless the Legislature has expressly so declared.

The place to begin is with the right default rule. The one proposed by Plaintiffs—which would presume that all "changes to the Insurance Code are 'read into' and applied to [all] policies issued previously" (OBOM 43-44)—is the inverse of what California law provides. That has been clear since this Court's decision in *Interinsurance Exchange*, which declined to apply a new statute to a preexisting insurance policy because, in this Court's words, "insurance policies are governed by the statutory and deci-

 $[\]mathbf{5}$ A few portions of Plaintiffs' brief could be read to raise issues about the correctness of the jury's verdict. (See OBOM 30, 37-39, 62-69.) Because Plaintiffs did not petition for this Court's review of that issue, this Court should not address those parts of Plaintiffs' brief. (Cf. Cal. R. Ct. 8.516(a)(1) [noting that when the Court specifies the issues on review, "[u]nless the court orders otherwise, the parties must limit their briefs and arguments to those issues and any issues fairly included in them"].) If this Court wishes to address the issue, Protective requests that the parties be allowed to submit supplemental briefs because that issue would implicate extensive evidence and arguments. For example, Plaintiffs now suggest without any foundation that the notices Protective sent McHugh "prejudiced" him. (OBOM 64, italics omitted.) Significant parts of Protective's Court of Appeal briefing explained why the jury had ample evidence to conclude otherwise. (See RB 12-25, 41-56; Supp.RB 7-19.)

sional law in force at the time the policy is issued." (Interinsurance Exch., supra, 58 Cal.2d at p.148, italics added.) Critically for present purposes, this Court held that this rule "is followed even though there has been a subsequent amendment or repeal of the statute incorporated into the policy." (Id. at p.149.) That is so because of "the theory that 'a statute should be given the least retroactive effect that its language reasonably permits."" (Ibid., quoting Corning Hosp. Dist. v. Superior Court (1962) 57 Cal.2d 488, 494.) While recognizing that the Legislature has the power to make new statutes apply to "all policies in force at the effective date" when the Constitution allows it, this Court emphasized that it will not assume that the Legislature intended that kind of "retroactive effect" unless the Legislature "expressly so declared."" (Ibid.)

Interinsurance Exchange's requirement that insurance statutes contain this "express[]" legislative statement is grounded in the general presumption "that legislation operates prospectively rather than retroactively." (Myers v. Philip Morris Co. (2002) 28 Cal.4th 828, 841 (Myers).) Plaintiffs are wrong when they suggest that Insurance Code section 41—which states that "[a]ll insurance in this State is governed by the provisions of this code" overcomes this presumption. (OBOM 43-44, quoting § 41.) Section 41 reflects the proposition, invoked by this Court in Interinsurance Exchange, that code provisions "in force at the time the policy is issued" become "part of the contract." (Interinsurance Exch., supra, 58 Cal.2d at pp.148-149, quoting 13 Appleman, Insurance (1983), p.8.) Section 41 does not speak to the effect of changes to the Insurance Code, and does not alter the rule that if the Legislature wishes to incorporate changes into "all policies" already in force, it must say so "expressly." (*Id.* at p.149.) None of the Court of Appeal precedents Plaintiffs cite for this proposition purported to read new laws into old polices. (See OBOM 43-44, citing *Mitchell v. United Nat. Ins. Co.* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 457, 471; *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Superior Ct.* (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 604, 610; *Cal-Farm Ins. Cos. v. Fireman's Fund Am. Ins. Co.* (1972) 25 Cal.App.3d 1063, 1071.) The analysis in each is consistent with the presumption that policies incorporate the law that was on the books at the time they were issued.

Plaintiffs cannot credibly claim that *Interinsurance Exchange* confined this rule exclusively to statutes that have the quality of making "legal what was previously illegal." (OBOM 58, italics omitted.) California is not alone in applying the rule, and neither *Interinsurance Exchange* nor any other authority has cabined it in the way Plaintiffs suggest. The law in other jurisdictions is that "[a] statute that becomes effective after the date of issuance of an insurance policy does not apply to that policy absent legislative intent," expressed "so clearly . . . as to leave no room for doubt," that "the statute be applied retroactively." (*Am. Nat. Fire Ins. Co. v. Smith Grading & Paving, Inc.* (1995) 317 S.C. 445, 448; accord *Smith v. Jackson Nat'l Life Ins. Co.* (D. Utah Mar. 29, 2019) Case No. 1:18-cv-00018-EJF, 2019 WL 1429613, at p.*3 (*Smith*) [applying Utah law].) Williston on Contracts describes the black-letter law as: "a statute that becomes

effective after the issuance of an insurance policy does not become part of that policy absent evidence of a legislative intent that the statute is to be applied retroactively." (16 Williston on Contracts (4th ed.) (May 2020 update) § 49:24, footnote omitted.) Citing multiple state-court decisions, Couch on Insurance calls it the "general rule" that "statutes operate prospectively and should never be construed as having a retrospective effect on the provisions of an existing contract of insurance unless the terms of the statute show clearly a legislative intent that it should operate retrospectively." (2 Couch on Insurance, *supra*, § 19:7.)

These same authorities belie Plaintiffs' suggestion that this presumption plays no role in this case because Assembly Bill 1747 would have affected only "conduct which Protective Life took after those statutes became effective"—namely, when it cancelled McHugh's policy in 2013-and thus would have been "entirely prospective." (OBOM 56, 58.) That is not how the presumption against retroactivity works. Plaintiffs' central claim, as they describe it in their brief, is that Protective breached McHugh's policy because that policy "incorporated" Assembly Bill 1747's new "protections." (OBOM 43.) This Court in *Interinsurance Ex*change said that reading new requirements into already-existing policies is precisely the sort of "retroactive effect" that triggers the Legislature's obligation to speak "expressly." (Interinsurance *Exch.*, supra, 58 Cal.2d at p.149.) A law that would "modify existing . . . contracts," to paraphrase what the Court of Appeal has said in a different context, "operate[s] retroactively." (Gordon H. Ball, Inc. v. State of California ex rel. Dept. Pub. Wks. (1972) 26

Cal.App.3d 162, 170, fn.12 (*Gordon H. Ball*).) As a federal court in Utah has put it, even when the change a new statute would bring about is increasing insurers' notice obligations to existing policyholders in the future, that law still is "retroactive" because of its "impact" on "preexisting contractual rights." (*Smith, supra*, 2019 WL 1429613, at p.*4.)

Plaintiffs' assertion that Assembly Bill 1747 is merely "procedural" gives them no basis for eliding the anti-retroactivity principle. (OBOM 57, italics omitted.) This Court has resisted any "clear-cut distinction between purely 'procedural' and purely 'substantive legislation," and has emphasized instead that any law that would "operat[e] on existing rights would be retroactive." (*Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. v. Ind. Acc. Com.* (1947) 30 Cal.2d 388, 394 (*Aetna*).) Assembly Bill 1747 creates substantive rights for policyholders, and a policyholder to whom the statute applies would have a breach-of-contract claim in circumstances where he or she otherwise would not. That is no procedural change. As a court in another state has explained, a law imposing new notice requirements on insurers "affects and alters the rights and duties of the parties" and thus "plainly qualifies as substantive." (*Smith, supra*, 2019 WL 1429613, at p.*4.)

It makes sense that the anti-retroactivity principle applies to these statutes. As this Court has said of the law of contracts generally, "to hold that subsequent changes in the law which impose greater burdens or responsibilities upon the parties become part of that agreement would result in modifying it without their consent, and would promote uncertainty in commercial transactions." (*Swenson v. File* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 389, 394-95). That is a particular problem for life-insurance policies, whose essential terms—and, especially, their premiums and payouts—are locked into place from the beginning, "cannot be changed without [the parties'] common consent," and are based on projections under the law as it exists at the time the contract is formed. (5 Couch on Insurance, *supra*, § 69:7; accord *N.Y. Life Ins. Co. v. Statham* (1876) 93 U.S. 24, 30.) Unanticipated changes to the ground rules will necessarily prejudice one of the parties, who will not be able to alter the agreed-upon premiums to account for the change.

The presumption against incorporating these changes into existing policies thus promotes fairness, and it is far from a onesided rule that helps only insurance companies. The casebooks are replete with examples of statutes—including the one in *Interinsurance Exchange*—that, if retroactively applied to existing policies, would have undermined the rights of insureds. (See, e.g., *Interinsurance Exch., supra*, 58 Cal.2d at p.146 [statute creating new ground for insurers to exclude insureds' coverage]; *Coffman* v. *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.* (Colo. 1994) 884 P.2d 275, 276 [same].) Both parties to the insurance contract have strong interests in avoiding such unexpected shifts in their legal relationship.

The presumption thus applies with full force to these kinds of statutes. Plaintiffs cannot sue Protective on the theory that McHugh's policy incorporated these new requirements unless they can point to "express language" in Assembly Bill 1747 or "other sources" that "provide a clear and unavoidable implication that the Legislature intended" this type of "retroactive application." (*Myers, supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p.844.) As explained below, they cannot.

B. The only reasonable reading of Assembly Bill 1747's text is that its new requirements do not apply to policies issued and delivered before the effective date.

Assembly Bill 1747's text does not—even arguably—contain the "express[]" language Plaintiffs would need to overcome the anti-retroactivity principle. (Interinsurance Exch., supra, 58) Cal.2d at p.149.) The Court of Appeal rightly observed that the "Legislature knows how to specify that statutory changes apply to insurance policies then in effect." (Opn. 13.) Yet this statute does not say, as other Insurance Code sections do, that it applies to all "policies in force" regardless of their dates of issuance. (§ 10235.95, subd. (a); § 10752.2.) Nor does it say, as many other statutes do, that it applies "retroactively." (Health & Saf. Code, § 101878; see also Prob. Code, § 2640.1, subd. (d) ["It is the intent of the Legislature for this section to have retroactive effect."].) It does not say anything even close. The statute was not "enacted as part of any urgency legislation," and thus did not even go into effect until several months after the Legislature passed it. (Glavinich v. Commonwealth Land Title Ins. Co. (1984) 163 Cal.App. 3d 263, 272.) These realities are reason enough to read Assembly Bill 1747's new requirements as not applying to policies issued before its effective date. As the Court of Appeal has explained, a statute's "silence as to retroactive application" makes "the presumption of prospective application . . . controlling." (In re Marriage of Ludwig (1976) 58 Cal.App.3d 744, 749.)

But the same result would follow even if this anti-retroactivity jurisprudence had no role to play. Assembly Bill 1747's language is not, in fact, silent on this matter. It may be true that, as Plaintiffs note, this statute does not make "specific reference" to the precise "date"—month, day, and year—when its requirements start to apply. (OBOM 49, italics omitted.) But Assembly Bill 1747's text is clear enough. As explained in the pages that follow, the words in the statute's critical provisions—the language precluding insurers from issuing policies "until" they give "applicant[s]" the right to designate third parties; the language saying policies "shall contain" a "provision" setting out the 60-day grace period; and the language requiring insurers to give the notice 30 days before that same 60-day grace period ends—can only be understood as applying exclusively to policies issued and delivered after the statute became effective.

1. The requirement that insurers grant "applicant[s]" the right to designate third parties to receive notice does not apply to policies issued and delivered before Assembly Bill 1747's effective date.

First consider the Assembly Bill 1747 requirement that even Plaintiffs do not claim applied to pre-2013 policies—the third-party-designation requirement in the statute's second section:

(a) An individual life insurance policy shall not be issued or delivered in this state until the applicant has been given the right to designate at least one person, in addition to the applicant, to receive notice of lapse or termination of a policy for nonpayment of premium. . . . (Assem. Bill No. 1747 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.) § 2, codified at Ins. Code, § 10113.72, subd. (a).) There are two reasons this requirement could not possibly have applied to already-existing policies like McHugh's.

The first is that this subdivision grants this right only to policy "applicant[s]." (Ins. Code, § 10113.72, subd. (a).) As the Court of Appeal put it, an "existing policyholder is not—and by definition cannot be—an 'applicant."" (Opn. 10.) Plaintiffs conceded as much at trial, telling the jury that "sub[division] (a) of this statute deals with applicants," that "McHugh was not an applicant," that "[h]e was an applicant back in 2004, 2005," and that for that reason "plaintiff is not alleging a violation of [Insurance Code, section 10113.72,] sub[division] (a)." (10 RT 1780:14-15.)

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